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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

PAMELA JUDITH BANNO,
Plaintiff, 15C 8291
V. JudgeJohn Z. Lee

EXPERIAN INFORMATION
SOLUTIONS, INC,,

Defendant.
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MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiff Pamela Banno (“Banno”) has sued Experian Information Solutions, Inc.
(“Experian”) alleging violations othe Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), 15 U.S.C16881et
seq. Banno and Experian have filed cragsstions for summary judgment. For the reasons
stated herein, Banno’s motion for summary judgment is denied, and Experian’s motion for
summary judgment is granted.

Factual Backaround?

In 2003, Banno purchased a residanproperty in Joliet, Illinoig“the Joliet property”)
See Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. §, ECF No. 67. Banno financed the purchase by taking out a
mortgage.ld. The mortgagevas eventuallyransferred to Ocwen Loan Servicing (“Ocwere)
corporation that services mortgage loans and furnishestaatadit reporting agenciesld.;
Pl.’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(C) Stmt. g, ECF No. 80.

Experian is a credit reporting agency that compiles consumer credit information
including consumer bankruptcy information. Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) StrAt. Bxperianobtains

bankriptcy information through its public records vendor, LexisNexis Risk & Information

! The following facts areindisputed except where otherwise noted.
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Analytics Group, Inc. (“Lexis”).ld. 117. When Experian learns from Lexis that a consumer’s
bankruptcyhas been discharged, any account that Experian has recasdedluded in the
consumer’'sankruptcy is automatically updatamreflect the dischargas well as to report a $0
recent balance and no monthly payment obligation{{ 22—23.

Experianhas severapolicies in placefor handling disputes witltonsumersover the
accuracy ofthe information in their files When a consumer contacts Expermaith a
nonfrivolousdispute, Experian logs the dispute and reinvestigated.iff 24. To reinvestigate a
dispute, Experian first decides whether the disman be resolved “internall“that is, based
on Experian’s internal policies and the information provided by the consuldef]{24-25.
Whenadispute is resolved internally, Experian sead¥spute Response Notification (DR
any relevant data faishers in order taootify them of any changes made as a result of the
dispute, as well as the badm the changes. See id. §126-27. By contrast, wen a dispute
cannot be resolved internally, Experian sends an Automated Consumer Disputeatiarific
(ACDV) to data furnishers to request additional information about disputed accddnfs26.
DRNs and ACDVsconvey information using “industry stamdacodes, as well as free form text
fields to communicate the nature of the consumer’s displite.”

In October 2013, Banno filed a Chapter dankruptcypetition Pl’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(C)
Stmt. 6. By that time, according to her bankruptcy filings, she owed Ocwen $173,549 on her
mortgage. Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt7{ Banno’sbankruptcy plan requirederto surrender
the Joliet propertyo Ocwen in full satisfaction dhis debt. I1d. 112. Despite this requirement

Banno continued to reside at the Joliet property throughout the period relevantaséhlsl.?

2 Banno moved out of the Joliet property goitysically surrendered it to Ocwen in December

2015,several months after this lawsuit was fildd.



On May 15, 2014, the bankruptcy court entered a discharge order in Banno’s bankruptcy
case.ld. 113. The next day, Lexis notified Experiahthe dischargeld. 131. Upon receiving
this notification, Experian automatically updated its records of Banno’s accahinDawen to
reflect that the account had been dischaigdzhnkruptcyand to report a $0 recent balande.

1 32.

On June 26, 2014, Experian received a dispute letter from Baameell as a copy of her
bankruptcy scheduledd. 1 33;id., Ex. D. The letter asked Experian to “update [Banno’s] credit
file(s) to reflect the discharged status of the debts” included in her bankrugtc¥x. D, at 2.

Upon processinghis dispute, Experian found that, with the exceptiormd department store
account all of the accounts identified on Banno’s bankruptcy schedutee alreadyeporting

as dischargeth Banno’sconsumefile. Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. §5. Experian updated the
department storaccount to reflect the dischargrd tolist a $0 recent balancdd. § 34;id., Ex.

F, at 3. After updating this account, Experian sent the department store a DRN to notify it of the
changes made. Def.’s LR 86a)(3) Stmt. 86. Experian also sent Banno an abbreviated
consumer disclosure to show her émanges.ld. 1 37;id., Ex. F.

Over a year later, on July 16, 2015, Banno obtained her annual credit frepoithe
Internet® Def’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. §8. The reportisted Banno’s Ocwen accourds
“Discharged through Bankruptcy Chapter 13,” reflectefiOarecent balanceand showed no

current monthly payment obligatiorid. 1 39;id., Ex. H. The monthly detail$n the “Account

8 According to Banno, this was not the first time she pulled her annual cegditt since her

bankruptcy was dischargén May 2014 She states that she also obtained her Experian credit report “[ijn
early 2014after receiving her discharge Pl.’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(C) Stmt. $3. The Court, however,
disregards this atement because Banno supports it only with a citation to her originglaiomrather

than with a citation to evidentiary material§ee Segel v. Shell Qil Co., 612 F.3d 932, 937 (7th Cir.
2010)(explaining that a nonmovant canmgfeatsummary judgment simply by resting bar pleadings
andmustinsteadpoint to evidence in the recotad support heclaims)



History’ section of the report, however, listed an account balance of $173,170raadtlaly
paymentobligationof $1,518on Banno’s Ocwen accoufdr each montfrom December 2013
to April 2015. Id., Ex. H, at 6.

On August 11, 2015, Experiaeceived a second dispute letter from Baredong with
another copy of her bankruptcy schedules. Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmtid|,48x. E. The letter
againasked Experian to “update [Banno’s] credit file(s) to reflect the discharge sththe
delts” included in her bankruptcyld., Ex. E, at 2. In additigrihe letter stated “[The Ocwen]
accountwas discharged in my bankruptcy.. The account status should be marked as
‘discharged’ and [t]here should be no derogatory reporting afterathierdmptcy filing date.”1d.
According to Bannothe letter's reference to “derogatory reporting” was sufficient to put
Experian on notice of a dispute regarding the information in the Account Histdirgrsef her
Ocwen account.See Pl.’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(B) Stmt. 191, 53, ECF No. 83.Experian disagrees
with this assertion Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. 1 41, 53.

Experian processed Banno’s second dispute hitem a few days after receiving itd.
143 Pl’'s LR 56.1(b)(3)(C) Stmt. 48. Becausaall of the accountshat had beemcludedin
Banno's bankruptcy were already reporting as dischaayatl listed a $0 recent balance,
Experian concluded that nothing in the accounts needednob#ied in response tohe letter.

See Def’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. #4* After processingthe letter, Experian sent a DRN to

Ocwen. Id. 1 45. NeitherBanno’sdispute lettenor her bankruptcy schedules were attached to

4 Although Experian maintains (and Banno does not dispute) that Banno's accountdreesly a

accurately reporting as discharged and with a $0 recent balance, Experian’s agerntelesser
“reapplied updates” to Banno’s accounts after receiving the second dispute $etdee.g., Def.’'s LR
56.1(a)(3) Stmt. 193-45. It appears that that these updates wempplied merely to adirm that the
relevant accounts were reporting as discharged and with a $0 recent balance ianExpemputer
systems; nothing in the parties’ filings indicates that these “updates’ecsulsubstantive changes to the
information in Banno’s consumdile. See id.; Def.’s Resp. Pl.’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(C) Stmt3Y, ECF
No. 89.



the DRN Pl’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(C) Stmt. 29. Experian also sent Banno a new copyer
consumer disclosure. Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stm#d5y Although theOcwen account was
reported as discharged and listed a $0 recent balaroree section of the consumer disclosure
the Account Historysection still listeda balance of $173,170 aredscheduled payment amount
of $1,518 this timefrom December 2013 telay 2015. PIl$ LR 56.1(b)(3)(C) Stmt. §3.
According to Experian, the information in the Account Histegctionof a consumer
disclosureis included merelyto inform the consumer of what information her creditors are
reporting to Experian.Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt{49. This information is not includeid
credit reports that Experian provides when a cred#équests the consumer’s credit information
Id. § 50° Experian sometimes usssmmaries of thinformationin the Account Historgection
to create acertain product that gives specialized information aboutomsumer’s balance
trends.” 1d. 148. But only a smalhumber of its clients purchase this produdd.  51.
Furthermore when a client purchases this product with respect to a specific consumer, the
purchase is reflected in the consumer’s filel. Nothing in Banno’s file indicates that any

Experian clent ever purchased this product with respetieteredit information Id. I 52.

° Banno does not expressly state whether she admits or disputes thisSsad®l.’s LR

56.1(b)(3)(B) Stmt. $0. The fact is therefore deemed admitted pursuant to Local Rule S&1.R
56.1(a);Smith v. Lamz, 321 F.3d 680, 683 (7th Cir. 2003). Moreover, even if the Court were to construe
Banno’s response to this fact as a denial, the fact would still be desinetled because she has not
supported the denial with sufficieavidence. See, eg., Snith, 321 F.3d at 683. The only evidence she
cites in response to this statement of fact is deposition testimony ich vihiperian’s corporate
representative stated: “Well, the account history section that's listéeeatisclosure ... would not be
reported to a third party. There’s not any sort of product that has all fidvahation. ... | don’t know if
anybody’s ever requested it, but we don’t have a product to provide all of that. SadnWwédave a
product that wl satisfy that request, then they wouldn’t be able to getéf.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt.

Ex. B, at 172:1620, 173:58. This testimony only underscores, rather than undermines, Experian’s
assertion that the information in the Account History sectimotiseported to thirgharty creditors.



L egal Standard

“The court shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgmannhater of law.” Fed.

R. Civ. P. 56(a)accord Shell v. Smith, 789 F.3d 715, 717 (7th Cir. 2015). To survive summary
judgment, the nonmovant must “do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical
doubt as to the material factdffatsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574,

586 (1986), and instead must “establish some genuine issue for trial suchetasdraable jury

could return a verdict in her favor.Gordon v. FedEx Freight, Inc., 674 F.3d 769, 7723 (7th

Cir. 2012). The nonmovant bears the burden of production and Garmdsummary judgment

by “simply resfing] upon the pleadings.Segel, 612 F.3d at 937.

In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, a court “must construe all facts a
reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving parfdrsey v. Morgan Sanley, 507 F.3d
624, 627 (7th Cir. 2007). But “[ijnferences that are supported by only specwdatiomjecture
will not defeat a summary judgment motionld. (internal quotation marks omitted)[T]he
mere existence of some alleged factual dispute between the parties will notadettla¢rwise
properly supported motion for summary judgmenffiderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S.
242, 247-48 (1986) (emphasis omitted).

Analysis

Bannoclaimsthat Experian violated the FCRA by mishandling information regarding her
Ocwen account in numerous waysFirst, she allegesthat Experian violated15 U.S.C.
81681le(b) by failing to follow reasonable procedures to enaccerate credit reportingIn
addition, &e allegeshat Experian violated 15 U.S.€.1681iby failing toconduct a reasonable

reinvestigation into her disputefailing to provide Ocwen with proper notice of her disputes,



failing to consider all relevant information in reinvestigating her disputes, failimgr@ct any
information found to bénaccurateandre-reporting disputed information withofitst notifying
Banno orcerifying the information’s accuracy Compl. 1] 120-24 ECF No. 1 see also Pl.’s
Mot. Summ. J. %, ECF No.79. FCRA imposes civil liability for the negligent and willful
violation of these provisions in 15 U.S.C. 88 16810 and 1681n, respectively.

In moving for summary judgment, Experian argues, among other thiregss is entitled
to judgment as a matter of law because Banno has not raised a triable issue oftdact as
(1) whether she suffered actual damatgesupport a negligence claiar (2) whether Experian
violated the FCRAIn a willful manner For the reasons that follow, the Court agrees that no
reasonable jury could find in Banno’s favor with respecgitber oftheseissue. Experian is
therefore entitled to summary judgment in its favor

l. Section 16810 Negligence Claim

The FCRA was enacted to “ensure fair and accurate credit reporting, promote @fficien

in the banking system, and protect consumer priva8gféco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Burr, 551 U.S.
47, 52 (2007).Private citizens may file civil actions to enforce the FCRA'’s provisidsee 15
U.S.C. 81681p. he FCRA however s “not a strict liability statute.”Sarver v. Experian Info.
Sols,, 390 F.3d 969, 971 (7th Cir. 2004Rather a plaintiff bringing a ¢aim underthe FCRA
may hold a defendatiible only for negligent or willfulviolationsof the statute Seeid.; Safeco,
551 U.S. at 53 (citing 15 U.S.C. §§ 16810(a), 1681n(a)).

Turning first to the claim that Experian negligently violated the FCRAJamtiff is
entitled to recovefor a defendant’s negligent violation only if she can show that she sustained
actualdamages as a result of the violation. 15 U.8§.06810(a)Ruffin-Thompkins v. Experian
Info. Sols., Inc., 422 F.3d 603, 60-08 (7th Cr. 2005) Sarver, 390 F.3d at 971.“The FCRA

does not presume damages; insteadhe [plaintiff] must affirmatively prove that she is entitled



to damages.”Ruffin-Thompkins, 422 F.3d at 610accord Sarver, 390 F.3dat 971. If a plaintiff
cannot proe some form ofactual damages, such as financial injury or emotional distress, then
she is not entitled to present negligebesed FCRA claims to a jury.See, e.g., Ruffin-
Thompkins, 422 F.3d at 610.

Banno has offered no evidence from which a reasonable jury could find that shedsuffer
actual damages as a resul&afperian’s alleged violations of the FCR&heassertghat shecan
prove actual damages because the alleged inaccuracies in her corderfway affect her
credit score, and... affect the price and availability of credih her existing accounts.” Mem.
Supp. Pl’'s Mot. Summ. J. at 22, ECF No. 82. But she cites no evidence in supthost of
assertion On the other hand, Experian has presented unrebutted evidence that the information in
the Account History section ddanno’s credit file was never provided to any third parties.
Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. 190, 52 see Wantz v. Experian Info. Sols., 386 F.3d 829, 833 (7th
Cir. 2004) (holding thatplaintiff failed to provideevidence ofactual damages under the FCRA
where there was no evidence of disclosure to third par@bspgated on other grounds by
Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Burr, 551 U.S. 47 (2007).

Nonetheless, Banngtateshat she has sufficiently “pleaded” an issue of fact as to actual
damagesid. at 21, and that it is “premature [to] brush aside [her] allegations of actmeges,”
Pl.’s Reply at 7, ECF No. 90At this stage however, Banno bears the burden of producing
evidence to support each element of her claimduding the element of actual damagsise
cannot survive summary judgmeayt simplyrelying onherpleadings and conclusory assertions
of “emotional distress,” without more, are insufficienfee Segel, 612 F.3d at 937Ruffin-
Thompkins, 422 F.3d at 60710 (noting that a party opposing summary judgment “may not rest

on [her] pleading,” an@&ffirming summary judgment in defendant’s favor where plaintiff failed



to present sufficient evidence of actual @g®esto support her FCRA clainissee also Jackson

v. Experian Info. Sols,, Inc., No. 15 C 11140, 2017 WL 635148, at *3 (N.D. Reb. 16, 2017)

(granting summary judgment in defendant’'s favor on FCRA claims whenetiffldailed to

present sufficient esence of actual damage#)eksic v. Clarity Servs.,, Inc., No. 13 C 07802,

2015 WL 4139711, at *8.1 (N.D. Ill. July 8, 2015) (same)in short, lrcauseBannohas failed

to point to evidence of actual damagefnancial, emotional, or otherwiseshe is noentitled to

pursue her claims on the theory that Experian negligently violated the FCRA.
Bannoneverthelessontends that her negligence claims should be permitted to proceed

evenwithout proof of actual damagelsecausesheseeks not only monetarglief but alsoan

injunctive remedy Courts within this districthowever,have heldthat injunctiveremedies are

not available in private causes of actlmought under theCRA. See Pappas v. Experian Info.

Sols, Inc., No. 15 C 8115, 2017 WL 635145, & (N.D. Ill. Feb. 16, 2017)Novak v. Experian

Info. Sols,, Inc., 782 F. Supp. 2d 617, 625 (N.D. Ill. 2011);re Trans Union Corp. Privacy

Litig., 211 F.R.D. 328, 340 (N.D. lll. 2002). In so holding, courts have reasoned that the FCRA

“sets forth a detailed remedial schenpetmittingprivate plaintiffs to seek only monetarglief

and vestinghe Federal Trade Commission with the exclusiuthority to seek injunctive relief.

Novak, 782 F. Supp. 2d at 625 (citing §681n, 16810p1681s(a));accord Pappas, 2017 WL

635145, at *5jn re Trans Union, 211 F.R.D. at 34Gsee also Washington v. CSC Credit Servs.

Inc., 199 F.3d 263, 268 (5th Cir. 2000) (“The affirmative grant of power to the FTC to pursue

injunctive relief, coupled with the absence of a similar grant to private litigards tiey are

expressly granted the right to obtain damages and other felieh as attorney’'s fees]

persuasively demonstrates that Congress vested the power to obtain injunctiwelediievith

the FTCY). Bannohasdeveloped no arguments to challernige reasoninghat underlies these



holdings, and she cites only a single district court case in support of her conelssenyon that
she may proceed with her negligence clamitsiout proof of actual damagesSsee Mem. Supp.
Pl’s Mot. Summ. J. a@2° As such, the Court rejects Bannaissertion thaher prayer for
injunctive relief excuses héailure tomarshal evidence of actual damages.

[. Section 1681n Willful Violation Claim

As explained abovddannocannot proceed with her FCRA claimsder §81681e(b) and
1681ion a8 168lonegligence theory, because that section only provides for actual damages
(which she cannot show). But, in addition to a negligence claim @gtig@81lo, Bannasserta
claim for willful violations under 8 1681n(awhich in turn provides for statutory damages and
punitive damages, as well as actual damagks U.S.C. 8681n(a):Safeco, 551 U.S. at 53
Accordingly, Banno still may survive summary judgmeitshe can present evidence that
Experian willfully violated 88 1681e(b) and 1681i.See Ruffin-Thompkins, 422 F.3d at 80

(citing 15 U.S.C. § 1681n).

6 The case Banno cites Kandrock v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, 216 F. Supp. 3d 869, 876
(N.D. 1. 2016). InHandrock, the court noted imlicta that the plaintiffs’ FCRA claims could have
survived a motion to disiss even without allegatioms actual damagesecausehe plaintiffssought not
only monetary damages but also injunctive reliéghk The court did not discuss whether the FCRA
permits private plaintiffs to seek injunctive relief; nor did it cite attyer case in which a plaintiff had
been permitted tpursue an injunctive remedy for a FCRA violatidd. In light of the other cases cited
supra, Banno’s reliance oHandrock is unpersuasive.

! Experian suggests that Bannd&lure to offer evidence of actual damages precludes her from
proving not only a negligent violation of the FCRA, but also a willful violatioref.’® Reply at 5, ECF

No. 88. The case law Experian relies upon for support, however, holds only thantéf gannot
establish a willful FCRA violation if she cannot prove that the defefsdaanhduct was proscribed by the
FCRA. See, e.g., Ruffin-Thompkins, 422 F.3d at 608 (holding that, because the district court had correctly
found that the defendant’sity to reinvestigate a dispute undet@81i was never triggered, the plaintiff

a fortiori could not prove a willful violation of 8681i). In other words, contrary to Experian’s
suggestion, the cases it cites do not hold that a failure to potwal danages precludes a plaintiff from
proving a willful FCRA violation. Indeed, such a rule would be inconsisteit tvé FCRA'’s remedial
scheme, which specifically permits a plaintiff to recover statutory damagesuiofliactual damages for
willful violations. 15 U.S.C. 8681n(a)(1). As such, Banno’s failure to offer proof of actual damages is
not dispositive of her claims for statutory damages based on Experiasgediyl willful FCRA
violations.

10



Willful violations are violations that are made knowingly or with “reckless descgof
the FCRA's requirements Safeco, 551 U.S. at 5/58. A defendant acts in “reckless disregard”
of the FCRA where[fts] action is not only a violation under a reasonable reading of the statute’s
terms, but shows that the [defendant] ran a risk of violating the law substagtesdtgr than the
risk associated with a reading that was merely careldglsdt 69. For the reasons that follow,
the Court concludethat on the current recordio reasonable jury could return a verdict in
Banno’s favor as tthisissue.

A. Section 1681e(b)

First, Banno argues that Experian willfully violated %81e(b). Section 1681e(b)
requires credit reporting agencies to “follow reasonable procedures to assumeum possible
accuracy of the information” in a consumer report. 15 U.S1688e(b). Aprocedure need not
be perfect in order to be “reasonable” for purposes b6&le(b). See, e.g., Childress v.
Experian Info. Sols,, Inc., 790 F.3d 745, 7448 (7th Cir. 2015).As such even if a procedure
results in the occasional reporting of inaccuiatermation,the procedurenay nevertheless be
reasonable as a matter of law where the credit reporting agency relies oralbbbaseputable
sourcef information and where alternative procedures would be unduly burdenstssnel.;
Sarver, 390 F.3d at 971-73.

Here, Banno contends that Experian’s procedures were unreasandele§ 1681e(b)
becausdheyfailed to ensure the accuracy of tAecount Historysection of consumdiles for
individuals whose accounts have been discharged in bankruptcy. Sdgm. Pl.’s Mot. Summ.
J. at 1#18; Pl.’s Reply at 5.There are several reasph®weverwhy no reasonable jury could

find that Experiawillfully violated 8§ 1681e(b) on this basis.

11



As an initial matterBanno has presented no evidence that the information in the Account
History section of her consumer file was ever disclosed to a third party. ThelS€wenit has
held that “where there is no evidence of disclosure to a third party, the plaintit astablish
theexistence of a consumer report” for purposes b8&le(b). Wantz, 386 F.3cat 833 In turn,

“[w] ithout such a report, thefean] be no duty to follow reasonable procedures regarding the
report” 1d.; accord Sgouros v. Transunion Corp., No. 14 C 1850, 2016 WL 4398032, at *4
(N.D. Ill. Aug. 18, 2016)

It is undisputed that the information in the Account History sections of consungeisfile
not included in credit reports that Experian provides to {pady creditors. Def.’s LR
56.1@)(3) Stmt. 0. In addition, although summaries of Account Historprmation are
disclosedas part of one dExperians credit reportingoroducts Banno’s consumer file indicates
that no third party ever purchasedch aproduct containindner creditinformation. Id. § 52.
Without evidence of a disclosure to a third party, Banno cannot prove to a jury that Experia
violated 81681e(b), much less that Experian did so knowingly or recklesSdg.Wantz, 386
F.3d at 833.

Second, even if Banno could show that the information in the Account History section of
her consumer filehad beendisclosed to a third party, Experian would still be entitled to
summary judgment on her claim, becaBs@no has failed to establish tl&atperian’s decision
to report such information was in knowing or reckless disregard of the FER#t, Experian
arguesthat the $173,170account balancdisted in the Account Historysection wasnot
“inaccurate” under 8681e(b), but ratheaccuratéy repored Banno’sin rem liability to Ocwen
during the period from May 2014 (when Banno’s bankruptcy was discharged) to December 2015

(when Banno moved out of her house and physically surrendered the Joliet propertyeto Ocw

12



per her bankruptcy plan)See Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. at 13 n.5, ECF No."“§a](
bankruptcy discharge extinguishes only one mode of enforcing a-elaamely, an action
against the debtamn personam—while leaving intact anothernamely, an action against the
debtorin rem.” (quoting Johnson v. Home State Bank, 501 U.S. 78, 84 (1992))

In responseBannoarguegshat Experian had no authority to reportem liability in her
Account Hstory section ad that, in any event, she had imorem liability to Ocwen after the
bankruptcy discharge in May 2014&ece Mem. Supp. Pl.’s Mot. Summ. J. at& But Banno
cites no authorityfrom the SeventhCircuit for thesepropositions See id. As such Banno
cannot show that Experian’s decision to report such information was in knowing orsseckle
disregard of the FCRA.See Pappas, 2017 WL 635145, at *4 (holding that defendant did not
willfully violate the FCRA where its conduaontravened neither “the plain language of the
FCRA" nor“any controlling legal authority in this Circuit”)

What is more even assumingarguendo that the information in théccount History
sectionwas inaccurate, Banno has not shown that the inaccuracy was the result of adailure
follow reasonable procedures collecting consumer credit informatiorin fact, inChildress v.
Experian Information Solutions, Inc., the Seventh Circuit held thdExperian’s policy of
collecting consumer bankruptcy information by relying on Lex#s reasonable as a matter of
law under 81681e(b),because.exis is generally recognized to be a reliable source of such
information. 790 F.3d at 747-48.

NeverthelessBanno suggests that her case is distinguishdtden Childress because
reliance onLexis “routinely praluce[s]inaccurate information” in théccount Historysection
of consumeffiles. See Pl.’'s Reply at 5. Buthe only evidence that Banno musters for this

sweeping proposition is the information concerning the Ocwen loan in her owBed®l.’s LR

13



56.1(b)(3)(C) Stmt. 83. There is simply no evidence that Lexis provides inaccurate Account
History information on a regular basis, or (if it does) that Experian wasea®f this practice.
As such, a jury would be hamtessed to find that Experian’s procedures were unreasonable
See Sarver, 390 F.3d 969, 972 (7th Cir. 2004JA] mistake does not render the procedures
unreasonable.”). Furthermore even if a jury could find that Experian’s procedures were
unreasonable, give@hildress, the Court concludes thatreasonablgury would not findthat
Experian’sprocedurewiolated the FCRA in a way that was knowing or reckless, rather than
“merely careless.”Safeco, 551 U.S. a69; see also Smith v. Trans Union, LLC, No. 13 C 9119,
2015 WL 1188189, at *6 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 12, 2015) (holding that no reasonable jury could find
that defendant willfully violated 8681e(b)where defendant followed procedures that had been
held to beeasonable under Seventh Circuit precedent).

For all of the above reasons, Banno has failed to creatawang dispute of material fact
as to whether Experian willfully violated1%81e(b). As such,¥perian is entitled to summary
judgment on Banno’s 8§ 1681e(b) claim.

B. Section 1681i

Next, Bannocontends that Experian willfully violated1%81i. Sectiorl681i requiresa
credit reporting agencp “conduct a reasonable reinvestigation” of disputed information once a
consumer‘notifies the agency” of amnaccuracy 15 U.S.C.81691i(a)(1)(A). In turn, the
subsections of 8681i sefforth various requirements governing reinvestigatoinsuch disputed
information For example81681li(a)(2) requires credit report agencies to provide “notice of [a]
dispute” as well as “all relevant information regarding the dispute” to the erdityotiginally
provided the disputed informationd. 8 1681i(a)(2) In addition, a credit reporting agentyist

consider *“all relevant information” in the course of conducting a reinvestigatan,
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8 1681li(a)(4), and must delete or modify any inforrhan found to be inaccurate or incomplete,
id. § 1681i(a)(5).

Banno offers two primary arguments in support of her contention that Experiamlyvillf
violated 81681i. First, she argues that Experian willfully failed to conduct a reasonable
reinvestigation and send Ocwen “all relevant information regardivey] dispute” under
8 1681i(a)(2) because Experian did not attach her second dispute letter or bankrugtalesche
when it sent Ocwen the DRM August 2015. Mem. Supp. Pl.’s Mot. Summ. J. at-2iB2
Tellingly, however, Banno cites no case law from within the Seventh Circuinigaldat a credit
reporting agency must attach original dispute letters or bankruptcy schedatderi to fulfill its
obligation to send “all relevant information” unded@31(a)(2). Seeid. at 12. Furthermore
district courts in other circuits hawivergedon this issue. Compare, e.g., Grigoryan v.
Experian Info. Sols., Inc., 84 F. Supp. 3d 1044, 1075 (C.D. Cal. 2014) (holding that a reasonable
jury could find defendant’s reinvestigation to be unreasonable undéB818(a)(2) where
defendant failed to attach relevant documents to an ACIf, Paul v. Experian Info. Sols.,

Inc., 793 F. Supp. 2d 1098, 1103 (D. Minn. 2011) (“No language in the statute requires a [credit
reporting agency] to forward documents to data furnishers to satisfy itsatudmiglunder

§ 1681li(a)(2)].”),and Saenz v. Trans Union, LLC, 621 F. Supp. 2d 1074, 1084 (D. Or. 2007)
(holding that a reasonable jury could fiadiolation of 81681i(a)(2) vhere defendant failed to

attach eithecopies or a summary of threlevant documentspon sending notice of a dispute

8 Relatedly, Banno asserts that Experian willfully sield §1681i(a)(2) because it “provided no

information, either in originabr summary form, to Ocwen regarding Plaintiff's disputeéd. at 12. As
Experian points out, however, this assertion is contrary to the factoatireésee Def.’s Reply at 14 It is

undisputed that Experian sent Ocwen a DRN and that DRNs summarize the natulispofteand its
resolutionusing industrystandard codes and fré@rm text fields. See Pl’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(B) Stmt.
1926-27. Banno points to no evidence suggestitad the DRN sent to Ocwen did not summeltizis

information or otherwise lacked the information that is typically includé2RNs.
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Given the lack of authority within this circuit, in addition to the split of auth@adgossother
jurisdictions, Experian’s failure to attach Banno’s original dispute lettet bankruptcy
schedulesvas careless at worst; it falls short of a knowing or reckless FCRA vialatea
Pappas, 2017 WL 635145, at *4 (granting summary judgment on FCRA claims and holding that,
“[w]ithout any antrolling legal authority in this Circuit requiring [credit reporting agendes]
provide underlying documentation to satisfylj§81li(a)(2)]; the plaintiff could not demonstrate
a knowing or reckless violation of that provisjon

Second, Banno argues thHatperian willfully violated 81681i by failing to consider or
correctthe information in the Account History section of her Ocwen accouttie course of
reinvestigating her dispute, as well by failing to request additionalniaoon from Ocwen
regardingthe Account History sectionSee Mem. Supp. Pl’'s Mot. Summ. J. 84-17. These
argumernd, too, areunpersuasive.Their principal flawis that neither of Banno’s dispute letters
expressly referencedny Account Historysection within her consumer file. See Def.’s LR
56.1(a)(3) Stmt., Exs. HE. Instead, the lettermerely asked Experian t6éupdate [Banno’s]
credit file(s) to reflectthe discharged status of the debts’ included in her bankruptcy.ld.
(emphasis added). Uporceiving the lettersExperian fulfilled precisely this requesby
reviewing andupdating the status of Banno’s debfee Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. {34, 43-
45. A reasonable jury could perhaps find that Experian was negligent in not also rgatirespti
the Account Historysectionof Banno’s Ocwen account, in light of the second dispute letter’'s
reference to “derogatory reportifig Id., Ex. E, at 2. But no reasonable jury could find that
Experian’s failure to consider, reinvestigate, or update the Account Hisemtyon was a
knowing or reckless violation of B81i, given Banno’s failure texpresslyreference that

section in her letters.See Jackson, 2017 WL 635148, at *3 (holding that no reasonable jury
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could find that Experian willfully violated §681i by failing to reinvestigate information in the
Account Historysectionof a consumer’s file where the consumer failed to expressly reference
the Account Historysectionin his dispute letter).

In sum, Banno has failed to present evidence from which a reasonable jury coubetfind t
she suffered actual damages as a result of Experian’s actions or that Explétifiy violated
the FCRA. As such, she cannmroceed with her FCRA claim&nd Experian is entitled to
summary judgment in its favorSee, e.g., Ruffin-Thompkins, 422 F.3d at 608L0 @ffirming
summary judgment where FCRA plaintiff failed to present evidence of eithexl aenages or
a willful violation).

Conclusion

For the reasons stated herein, Banno’s motion for summary judgment [79] is denied and

Experian’s motion for summary judgment [65] is granted. Judgment will be éntefavor of

Experian, andhis case is hereby terminated.

ITISSO ORDERED. ENTERED 7/20/17
&/ﬂjL&——'
John Z. Lee

United States District Judge
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